# JOINT TRAUMA SYSTEM CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINE (JTS CPG)



## Catastrophic Non-Survivable Brain Injury (CPG ID: 13)

Useful guidelines to manage casualties with catastrophic, non-survivable brain injury at Role 2 and Role 3 facilities.

#### **Contributors**

CDR, Chris J Neal, MC, USN CDR Randy S Bell, MC, USN LCDR J Jonas Carmichael, MC, USN LTC Joseph J. DuBose, MC USAF CDR Daniel J Grabo Jr, MC, USN COL John S Oh, MC, USA LTC Kyle N Remick, MC, USA COL, Jeffrey A Bailey, MC, USAF

First Publication Date: 16 Feb 2012 Publication Date: 27 Feb 2017 Supersedes CPG dated 07 Mar 2012

Opinions, interpretations, conclusions, and recommendations are those of the authors and are not necessarily endorsed by the Services or DoD.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Background	2
Treatment	3
Transfusions Considerations	
Determining Futility and the Appropriateness of Transport	
Responsive	
Non Responsive	
Performance Improvement Measures	
Intent (Expected Outcomes)	5
Performance/Adherence Measures	5
System Reporting & Frequency	5
Responsibilities	
References	
Appendix A: Catastrophic Brain Injury Resuscitation Management for Persistent Hypotension	
Appendix B: Management of Catastrophic Brain Injury	
Appendix C: T-4 Replacement Protocol	
Appendix D: Additional Information Regarding Off-label Uses in CPGs	

#### **BACKGROUND**

Catastrophic brain injury, for the purpose of this guideline, is defined as any brain injury that is expected after imaging evaluation and /or clinical exam to result in the permanent loss of all brain function above the brain stem level.

**NOTE:** For patients with potentially survivable but severe Traumatic Brain Injury (TBI), refer to Joint Trauma System CPG, *Neurosurgery and Severe Head Injury - 13 July 2016*.

- 1. The intent of this guideline is to provide clinically useful recommendations which will allow providers at all roles of care who encounter these injuries to optimize the opportunity for these casualties to be evacuated safely and appropriately to the next level of care.
- 2. It is not the purpose of this guideline to address the complexities of brain death determination, or at what role of care and by what types of providers this determination should be made.
- 3. If appropriately resuscitated and hemodynamically normalized, these patients are more likely to be reunited with their families at Role 4 facilities. Additionally, evacuation from a combat theater of operations preserves the potential to honor the expressed intent of a patient to participate as an organ donor. Experience at Landstuhl Regional Medical Center between 2003 and 2013 demonstrated this opportunity to be on par with higher performing centers in CONUS. (Publication in draft, J. Oh, personal communication, 05 Aug 2016)

Catastrophic brain injury is associated with profound physiologic alterations that result in diffuse vascular regulatory disturbances and widespread cellular injury. <sup>1, 2</sup> Severe alterations in metabolism, <sup>3-5</sup> endocrine function, <sup>6-9</sup> immunology <sup>10</sup> and coagulopathy <sup>11-17</sup> also commonly manifest. These disturbances frequently lead to multiorgan system failure, cardiovascular collapse and asystole in up to 60% of patients if not appropriately managed. <sup>3</sup>

It is known from animal studies that this cardiovascular deterioration is associated with impaired oxygen utilization, a shift from aerobic to anaerobic metabolism, a depletion of glycogen and myocardial high-energy stores, and the accumulation of lactate. <sup>3,5,9</sup> This irregular metabolism has been associated with low levels of triiodothyronine (T3), thyroxin (T4), and to a lesser extent cortisol and insulin. <sup>6-9</sup> Therapeutic replacement with T3 has been associated with complete reversal of anaerobic metabolism and subsequent stabilization of cardiac function when applied to human brain dead subjects. <sup>6,7</sup> In addition, the use of T3 and similar thyroid replacement preparations have been associated with significant improvements in cardiovascular status, reductions in inotropic support, and decreases in donors lost from cardiac instability. <sup>5,18-20</sup> The etiology of this functional "hypothyroid state" is poorly understood, but may be a result of lower than normal thyroid stimulating hormone levels caused by the irreversible damage to the hypothalamus and pituitary from ischemia. <sup>21</sup> Another explanation is a decrease in the peripheral conversion of T4 to its more potent analogue T3, similar to the euthyroid sick syndrome. It should be noted that evidence which validates the efficacy of hormonal replacement in this population of patients is not conclusive. <sup>22,23</sup> While this subject matter continues to be evaluated it should be recognized that early, effective, conventional critical care management is the therapeutic mainstay in these patients. <sup>24</sup>

#### **TREATMENT**

The clinical management of catastrophic brain injury is focused on hemodynamic stabilization. This consists of three aspects:

- 1. Early identification of the severity of injury, as severity of the TBI correlates with deficiencies in the pituitary adrenal axis, leading to hemodynamic instability.<sup>25</sup>
- 2. Intensive care management to achieve hemodynamic stability based on degree of TBI and associated injuries. <sup>26</sup>
- 3. Resuscitation with fluids and blood products, early use of vasopressors and consideration for endocrine/hormone therapy in patients with refractory hemodynamic instability.

Vasopressors such as norepinephrine should be utilized if the mean arterial pressure (MAP) remains less than 70 mmHg despite adequate fluid resuscitation. (See <u>Appendix A</u>.) In patients whom Diabetes Insipidus (DI) is suspected, consider adding a vasopressin drip to norepinephrine after initial treatment with DDAVP. (See <u>Appendix A</u> and <u>Appendix B</u> treatment of DI). In casualties with catastrophic head injury who require more than a single vasopressor to maintain a systolic blood pressure of 100 mmHg or have evidence of DI, strong consideration should be given for addressing the endocrine abnormalities associated with these injuries that can contribute to ongoing hemodynamic instability. (See <u>Appendix B</u>.)<sup>25-29</sup> Adjuncts shown to assist with hemodynamic stability include stress dose steroids, IV insulin, and replacement of thyroid hormone.

#### These adjuncts are:

- 1. 1 ampule 50% dextrose IV
- 2. 2 g solumedrol IV
- 3. 20 units regular insulin IV
- 4. 20 micrograms of thyroid hormone (T4) IV, if available

This is given as an initial bolus followed by a continuous infusion of 10 mcg/hr of T4, if it is available.

An appropriately aggressive approach should also stress early identification and management of catastrophic brain injury-related complications such as:

- 1. Disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC)
- 2. Diabetes Insipidus (DI)
- 3. Neurogenic pulmonary edema (NPE)
- 4. Hypothermia
- 5. Cardiac arrhythmias

See Appendix C for management points on each.

#### TRANSFUSIONS CONSIDERATIONS

The use of blood products for these patients is a complex issue involving the proper use of limited resources in theater and the paucity of evidence-based recommendations on this topic. If the patient responds hemodynamically to the previous interventions and appears stable after the initial insult, a reasonably aggressive approach should be taken to correct coagulopathy rapidly and transfuse PRBCs to a level sufficient to optimize oxygen delivery to tissue and organs. There is little to support optimal hemoglobin in this population, but in general critically ill populations, a target above at least 7g/dL has been recommended.<sup>30</sup> In this patient population, however, goal hemoglobin of 10g/dl has been set for this protocol. (See Appendix A.) Other blood products are used as per standard ICU practice to correct pre-existing traumatic coagulopathy or disseminated intravascular coagulation generated by the release of tissue factor from necrotic brain tissue. An International Normalized Ration (INR)<1.5 and platelet count >50,000 should be considered until evacuation occurs.<sup>31</sup>

#### DETERMINING FUTILITY AND THE APPROPRIATENESS OF TRANSPORT

#### RESPONSIVE

Within the context of a catastrophic, non-survivable brain injury, if the patient responds to initial resuscitation and treatment and achieves clinical stability, transport to the next higher role of care should be considered. In these circumstances, aggressive effort should be made to re-unite the service member with family at the Role 4 facility. As a secondary priority to be considered only in these otherwise futile situations, service members may also be evaluated for potential organ donation at the Role 4 facility.

#### NON RESPONSIVE

Within the context of a catastrophic, non-survivable brain injury, if the patient does not respond to initial aggressive resuscitation, continued further efforts should be guided by a combination of clinical judgment and battlefield effects, including: resources available at the current role of care facility (critical care personnel, equipment, and supply resources), other critically injured patients requiring immediate attention, potential for further casualties from active troop contact, and availability and capacity of evacuation to next higher role of care.

The medical evacuation clinical and operational leadership should be engaged early in these circumstances. Clinical discussion and decisions regarding stability for transport should occur between the trauma team and the flight team. The clinical team should also inform medical operations leadership who will be able to provide information about evolving battlefield effects affecting the availability and capacity of transport.

If the patient cannot be clinically stabilized or battlefield effects otherwise preclude transport, no further efforts should be pursued and withdrawal of support with dignity and with comfort measures is the most respectful and appropriate course of action. Providers presented with these patients are always encouraged to discuss patient care with colleagues and medical leadership at their location to achieve a clinical consensus in these very difficult situations. When available and appropriate, they are also encouraged to communicate with trauma providers at the next higher role of care to achieve consensus on the plan to transport or not to transport. These situations are fortunately not common, but constitute the most challenging of clinical and ethical management dilemmas that one can face while deployed.

#### PERFORMANCE IMPROVEMENT MEASURES

## INTENT (EXPECTED OUTCOMES)

In patients identified as meeting criteria for catastrophic care, all efforts are undertaken by protocol to keep the patient hemodynamically stable in an effort to deliver them to the next level of care.

## PERFORMANCE/ADHERENCE MEASURES

Early use of goal directed fluid therapy, pressors, and hormone therapy in patients with catastrophic brain injury. These will be monitored by using the patient record and the DoD Trauma Registry.

## SYSTEM REPORTING & FREQUENCY

The above constitutes the minimum criteria for Performance Improvement (PI) monitoring of this CPG. System reporting will be performed annually; additional PI monitoring and system reporting may be performed as needed. The system review and data analysis will be performed by the Joint Trauma System (JTS) Director, JTS Program Manager, and the JTS PI Branch.

## **RESPONSIBILITIES**

It is the trauma team leader's responsibility to ensure familiarity, appropriate compliance and PI monitoring at the local level with this CPG.

#### **REFERENCES**

- 1. Power BM, Van Heerden PV. The physiological changes associated with brain death-- current concepts and implications for treatment of the brain dead organ donor. Anaesth Intensive Care. 1995;23:26-36.
- 2. Smith M. Physiologic changes during brain stem death--lessons for management of the organ donor. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2004;23:S217-22.
- 3. Salter DR, Dyke CM, Wechsler AS. Triiodothyronine (T3) and cardiovascular therapeutics: A review. J Card Surg. 1992;7:363-374.
- 4. Novitzky D, Horak A, Cooper DK, Rose AG. Electrocardiographic and histopathologic changes developing during experimental brain death in the baboon. Transplant Proc. 1989;21:2567-2569.
- 5. Cooper DK, Novitzky D, Wicomb WN. The pathophysiological effects of brain death on potential donor organs, with particular reference to the heart. Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 1989;71:261-266.
- 6. Novitzky D, Cooper DK, Reichart B. Value of triiodothyronine (T3) therapy to braindead potential organ donors. J Heart Transplant. 1986;5:486-487.
- 7. Novitzky D, Cooper DK, Reichart B. Hemodynamic and metabolic responses to hormonal therapy in brain-dead potential organ donors. Transplantation. 1987;43:852-854.
- 8. Wicomb WN, Cooper DK, Novitzky D. Impairment of renal slice function following brain death, with reversibility of injury by hormonal therapy. Transplantation. 1986;41:29-33.

- 9. Novitzky D, Cooper DK, Morrell D, Isaacs S. Change from aerobic to anaerobic metabolism after brain death, and reversal following triiodothyronine therapy. Transplantation. 1988;45:32-36.
- 10. Smrcka M, Mrlian A, Klabusay M. Immune system status in the patients after severe brain injury. Bratisl Lek Listy. 2005;106:144-146.
- 11. Bredbacka S, Edner G. Soluble fibrin and D-dimer as detectors of hypercoagulability in patients with isolated brain trauma. J Neurosurg Anesthesiol. 1994;6:75-82.
- 12. Pathak A, Dutta S, Marwaha N, Singh D, Varma N, Mathuriya SN. Change in tissue thromboplastin content of brain following trauma. Neurol India. 2005;53:178-182.
- 13. Stein SC, Smith DH. Coagulopathy in traumatic brain injury. Neurocrit Care. 2004;1:479-488.
- 14. Bayir A, Kalkan E, Kocak S, Ak A, Cander B, Bodur S. Fibrinolytic markers and neurologic outcome in traumatic brain injury. Neurol India. 2006;54:363-365.
- 15. Nekludov M, Antovic J, Bredbacka S, Blomback M. Coagulation abnormalities associated with severe isolated traumatic brain injury: Cerebral arterio-venous differences in coagulation and inflammatory markers. J Neurotrauma. 2007;24:174-180.
- 16. Affonseca CA, Carvalho LF, Guerra SD, Ferreira AR, Goulart EM. Coagulation disorder in children and adolescents with moderate to severe traumatic brain injury. J Pediatr (Rio J). 2007;83:274-282.
- 17. Aiyagari V, Menendez JA, Diringer MN. Treatment of severe coagulopathy after gunshot injury to the head using recombinant activated factor VII. J Crit Care. 2005;20:176-179.
- 18. Novitzky D, Cooper DK, Chaffin JS, Greer AE, DeBault LE, Zuhdi N. Improved cardiac allograft function following triiodothyronine therapy to both donor and recipient. Transplantation. 1990;49:311-316.
- 19. Novitzky D. Novel actions of thyroid hormone: The role of triiodothyronine in cardiac transplantation. Thyroid. 1996;6:531-536.
- 20. Zuppa AF, Nadkarni V, Davis L, et al. The effect of a thyroid hormone infusion on vasopressor support in critically ill children with cessation of neurologic function. Crit Care Med. 2004;32:2318-2322.
- 21. Salim A, Martin M, Brown C, Belzberg H, Rhee P, Demetriades D. Complications of brain death: Frequency and impact on organ retrieval. Am Surg. 2006;72:377-381.
- 22. Novitsky D, Cooper DKC, Rosendale JD, Kauffman HM. Hormonal therapy of the brain-dead organ donor: experimental and clinical studies. Transplantation. 2006; 82(11): 1396-1401
- 23. Rech TH, Moraes RB, Crispin D, et. al. Management of the brain-dead organ donor: a systematic review and meta-analysis, Transplantation. 2013; 95(7): 966 -74.
- 24. McKeown DW, Ball J. Treating the donor. Current Opinion in Organ Transplantation. 2014; 19:85-91.
- 25. Powner DJ, Boccalandro C. Adrenal insufficiency following traumatic brain injury in adults. Curr Opin Crit Care. 2008 Apr;14(2):163-6.
- 26. Klose M, Juul A, Poulsgaard L, Kosteljanetz M, Brennum J, Feldt-Rasmussen U. Prevalence and predictive factors of post-traumatic hypopituitarism. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2007 Aug;67(2):193-201. Epub 2007 May
- 27. Powner DJ, Boccalandro C, Alp MS, Vollmer DG. Endocrine failure after traumatic brain injury in adults. Neurocrit Care. 2006;5(1):61-70.

- 28. Aimaretti G, Ambrosio MR, Di Somma C, Fusco A, Cannavò S, Gasperi M, Scaroni C, De Marinis L, Benvenga S, degli Uberti EC, Lombardi G, Mantero F, Martino E, Giordano G, Ghigo E. Traumatic brain injury and subarachnoid haemorrhage are conditions at high risk for hypopituitarism: screening study at 3 months after the brain injury. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf). 2004 Sep;61(3):320-6.
- 29. Dimopoulou I, Tsagarakis S, Kouyialis AT, Roussou P, Assithianakis G, Christoforaki M, Ilias I, Sakas DE, Thalassinos N, Roussos C. Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis dysfunction in critically ill patients with traumatic brain injury: incidence, pathophysiology, and relationship to vasopressor dependence and peripheral interleukin-6 levels. Crit Care Med. 2004 Feb;32(2):404-8.
- 30. Hebert PC, Wells G, Blajchman MA, et al: A multicenter, randomized, controlled clinical trial of transfusion requirements in critical care. Transfusion Requirements in Critical Care Investigators, Canadian Critical Care Trials Group. N Engl J Med 1999; 340:409-417.
- 31. Kotloff RM, Blosser SD, Fulda GJ, et al: Management of the Potential Organ Donor in the ICU: Society of Critical Care Medicine/ Americal College of Chest Physicians/ Association of Organ Procurement Organizations Consensus Statement. Crit Care Med 2015; 43:1291-1325.

#### APPENDIX A: CATASTROPHIC BRAIN INJURY RESUSCITATION MANAGEMENT FOR PERSISTENT HYPOTENSION

## **Evaluate Patient in ER ASAP** (follow ATLS guidelines) 1. Labs obtained: ABG/serum lactate/CBC/PT/PTT/lytes head-injured patients 2. Transfuse to maintain Hct > 30 3. Bolus 1 liter NS or 500 ml 3% saline 4. Control active bleeding 5. Place large trauma central line 6. Transfer ASAP to ICU following CT scan Caution: Patients may go from hypertension to hypotension rapidly YES NO Normotensive patient? Continue to fluid resuscitate as Continue to fluid needed and correct lab resuscitate with NS abnormalities. See Appendix B. YES NO SBP>100 or MAP>65? See Appendix B for Continue to bolus with blood further management products to H/H of 10/30 1. Norepinephrine drip (0.1-0.5 mcg/kg/min) 2. Look for DI and replace UOP over 200cc with 1/2 NS cc for Blood cc every hour or, if patient is hypertensive, DDAVP 1-2 NO pressure & micrograms of DDAVP IVP (q 2-8 hours as needed) H/H goals 3. Consider starting vasopressin at 0.01-0.04 units/min titrate met? to SBP>100/MAP > 65 if DI is suspected after initial treatment with DDAVP

## APPENDIX B: MANAGEMENT OF CATASTROPHIC BRAIN INJURY

## 1. Disseminated Intravascular Coagulation (DIC)

Begin correcting any coagulation lab abnormalities (thrombocytopenia, increased INR) early, before clinical DIC.

#### 2. Diabetes Insipidus (DI)

- If patient is normotensive, serum sodium > 150 and Urinary Output (UOP) > 600cc/hr, give 1-2 micrograms of DDAVP IVP (q 2-8 hours as needed)
- Replace UOP cc for cc with 1/2 NS q hour for UOP > 200 (example: for UOP of 1000cc replace with 800cc of 1/2 NS).
- If patient's serum sodium > 150 and UOP > 300cc/hr, replace UOP cc for cc with 1/2 NS q hour for UOP > 200cc.
- If patient is hypotensive, then use protocol in <u>Appendix A</u>, and consider adding a vasopressin drip if DI is suspected.

Pitfalls: Assuming high UOP is from DI, but is really from diuretics and/or Mannitol. Replace diuretic fluid loss with NS or LR if hypotensive. (Another marker of DI: urine specific gravity < 1.005).

## 3. Tachycardia and Hypertension

This commonly occurs prior to complete herniation and should not be treated. Abrupt fluctuations in blood pressure during the period before and immediately after herniation are common. Aggressive treatment of hypertension will only further exacerbate the hypotension that may follow during the natural physiologic course of the herniation process.

## 4. Neurogenic Pulmonary Edema

This may occur and results in decreased PaO2; increase ventilator support as needed. With severe problems of oxygenation, utilize increased Positive End Expiratory Pressure (PEEP) and consider advanced ventilator modes such as Airway Pressure Release Ventilation (APRV) or VDR if available. Increasing PEEP, however, can decrease cerebral venous return and should be considered when managing neurogenic pulmonary edema. Similarly, APRV results in permissive hypercapnia, also detrimental to a head injured patient. Once neurogenic edema has been diagnosed, maintaining a low cardiac filling and limiting intravenous fluids to minimize pulmonary edema would be ideal, however, it must be done while balancing of needs of the other organ systems.

## 5. Hypokalemia and/or Hyperglycemia

Use sliding scales as needed.

#### 6. T4 Protocol

Many patients have a T-3/T-4 deficiency and require additional thyroxin. Start patients on thyroxin protocol if thyroxine is available in patients with severe TBI that are continually hypotensive despite adequate fluid resuscitation and high dose pressors. (<a href="Appendix C: T-4 Replacement Protocol">Appendix C: T-4 Replacement Protocol</a>) Be aware that potassium will likely need to be aggressively replaced once thyroxin is started.

#### 7. Cardiac Arrest

Follow ACLS code guidelines.

## APPENDIX C: T-4 REPLACEMENT PROTOCOL

## **PRETREATMENT**

- 1. Fluid resuscitate to predefined endpoints (CVP > 7, SBP > 100)
- 2. Give blood to achieve an H&H above 10 and 30
- 3. Correct electrolyte imbalances

## **PREREQUISITE**

Patient is requiring a combined vasopressor need greater than 15 mcg (all VP added) to maintain a systolic pressure of 100 after the pre-treatment is completed or becomes hemodynamically unstable.

#### T-4 PROTOCOL

- Administer IV boluses of the following in rapid succession:
  - 1 Amp of 50% Dextrose
  - 2 gm of Solumedrol
  - 20 units regular insulin
  - 20 mcg Thyroxin (T-4)
- Start a drip of 200 mcg T-4 in 500cc Normal Saline (0.4mcg/cc). Administer at 25cc (10mcg) per hour
  initially. Reduce levels of other vasopressors as much as possible and then adjust T-4 as necessary to
  maintain desired pressure.
  - Donors > 100 lbs give above dose
  - Donors 50-75 lbs. give 13cc = 5.2 mcg/hr
  - Donors 75-100 lbs. give 19cc = 7.6 mcg/hr
- After 30 to 60 minutes, patients may become tachycardic with an increase in temperature and blood pressure.

Monitor K+ levels carefully. The only perceived complication of T-4 identified to this point is an unusually high K+ requirement in some cases.

## APPENDIX D: ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING OFF-LABEL USES IN CPGS

## **PURPOSE**

The purpose of this Appendix is to ensure an understanding of DoD policy and practice regarding inclusion in CPGs of "off-label" uses of U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA)—approved products. This applies to off-label uses with patients who are armed forces members.

### **BACKGROUND**

Unapproved (i.e. "off-label") uses of FDA-approved products are extremely common in American medicine and are usually not subject to any special regulations. However, under Federal law, in some circumstances, unapproved uses of approved drugs are subject to FDA regulations governing "investigational new drugs." These circumstances include such uses as part of clinical trials, and in the military context, command required, unapproved uses. Some command requested unapproved uses may also be subject to special regulations.

## ADDITIONAL INFORMATION REGARDING OFF-LABEL USES IN CPGS

The inclusion in CPGs of off-label uses is not a clinical trial, nor is it a command request or requirement. Further, it does not imply that the Military Health System requires that use by DoD health care practitioners or considers it to be the "standard of care." Rather, the inclusion in CPGs of off-label uses is to inform the clinical judgment of the responsible health care practitioner by providing information regarding potential risks and benefits of treatment alternatives. The decision is for the clinical judgment of the responsible health care practitioner within the practitioner-patient relationship.

## **ADDITIONAL PROCEDURES**

#### **Balanced Discussion**

Consistent with this purpose, CPG discussions of off-label uses specifically state that they are uses not approved by the FDA. Further, such discussions are balanced in the presentation of appropriate clinical study data, including any such data that suggest caution in the use of the product and specifically including any FDA-issued warnings.

## Quality Assurance Monitoring

With respect to such off-label uses, DoD procedure is to maintain a regular system of quality assurance monitoring of outcomes and known potential adverse events. For this reason, the importance of accurate clinical records is underscored.

#### Information to Patients

Good clinical practice includes the provision of appropriate information to patients. Each CPG discussing an unusual off-label use will address the issue of information to patients. When practicable, consideration will be given to including in an appendix an appropriate information sheet for distribution to patients, whether before or after use of the product. Information to patients should address in plain language: a) that the use is not approved by the FDA; b) the reasons why a DoD health care practitioner would decide to use the product for this purpose; and c) the potential risks associated with such use.